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PLAINTIFFS’ APPLICATION FOR PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION


Plaintiffs, Bridgette Feemster, Sabrina Lymore, Mary Brown, Shirley Holland, Dyanne Johnson, Shirley Lattimore, and Beatrice Harris,
 by their undersigned attorneys, apply pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 65(a) for a Preliminary Injunction against Defendant, its agents, employees, representatives, successors, attorneys, and all persons in active concert with it.  Plaintiffs request that the Court:

a) enjoin the Defendant to complete any requirements necessary to enter into tenant-based voucher contracts with the D.C. Housing Authority on Plaintiffs’ behalf, to wit: complying in a timely fashion with all requirements necessary to enter into Housing Assistance Payment contracts on Plaintiffs’ behalf with the D.C. Housing Authority including, but not limited to, cooperation with D.C. Housing Authority inspection procedures, submitting all required paperwork to the D.C. Housing Authority, and executing Housing Assistance Payment contracts on Plaintiffs’ behalf; 

b) enjoin Defendant from requiring Plaintiffs to pay more rent than they were required to pay under the project-based Section 8 program; and 

c) enjoin Defendant from evicting Plaintiffs from their units at the Bates Street Townhomes on any ground related to or arising from Defendant’s refusal to accept Plaintiffs’ enhanced vouchers unless Defendant has just cause for eviction.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs request (1) a preliminary injunction ordering the relief requested above, and (2) such other appropriate relief to which Plaintiffs may be entitled.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

Bridgette Feemster,
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et al.,
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)

Plaintiffs,
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)
Case No. 04-CV-1901 - RBW

v.





)








)

BSA LIMITED PARTNERSHIP,

)







)


Defendant.



)

PLAINTIFFS’ MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES IN SUPPORT OF PLAINTIFFS’ APPLICATION FOR PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION 

Plaintiffs’ Second Amended Complaint alleges that the Defendant, the owner of rental property in which Plaintiffs reside, has violated federal and District of Columbia laws by denying Plaintiffs the ability to use their housing subsidies, rental vouchers, which will allow them to remain in their current homes.  The Plaintiffs reside in residential units that are a part of a group of 37 townhouses or apartments within townhouses, known as the “Bates Street Townhomes.”  As a group, the Bates Street Townhomes received a rental subsidy from the Department of Housing and Urban Development (“HUD”) known as “project-based Section 8.”  Defendant is the owner of the Bates Street Townhomes and terminated the property’s status as a project-based Section 8 property effective at or around September 30, 2004.  As part of the termination of the project-based Section 8 subsidy, the Plaintiffs were entitled to and did receive tenant-based rental subsidies, known as enhanced vouchers (“vouchers”).  The vouchers may be used to subsidize the rent at Plaintiffs’ homes.  

Defendant does not dispute that it must accept Plaintiffs’ enhanced vouchers.  It refuses, however, to complete some of the administrative requirements related to using the vouchers, to wit executing lease addenda, a required document when accepting a voucher.  Defendant’s refusal to execute the HUD-required lease addenda is nothing less than a denial of Plaintiffs’ ability to use their vouchers in their current homes.  Defendant’s conduct violates the United States Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 1437 et seq. as amended, the National Housing Act, 12 U.S.C. §§ 1701 et seq., the Multifamily Assisted Housing Reform and Affordability Act of 1997 as amended (codified at 42 U.S.C. § 1437f note (Multifamily Housing Assistance)).  Defendant’s actions also violate the District of Columbia Human Rights Act (D.C. Code § 2-1402.21) and its prohibition of discrimination based on source of income as well as the District of Columbia Consumer Protection Procedures Act, D.C. Code §28-3901 et seq.
  
On October 22, 2004, Plaintiffs filed a Complaint and Application for Temporary Restraining Order and Order to Show Cause Why a Preliminary Injunction Should Not Issue, seeking to require Defendant to accept their vouchers.  On November 5, 2004, Judge Henry H. Kennedy, Jr. , following oral argument, issued a Temporary Restraining Order.  The Order required the Defendant “to initiate the process of accepting Plaintiffs’ enhanced vouchers, to wit: immediately sign, complete, and submit any necessary papers to the District of Columbia Housing Authority to begin the ‘lease-up’ process so that Plaintiffs will be able to use their enhanced vouchers at their current homes.”  See Temporary Restraining Order at p. 2 ¶ 2.  

The Temporary Restraining Order was designed to prevent Plaintiffs’ vouchers, which could be used only for a specific period of time, from expiring.  Thus, the Court limited the Order to the minimum action necessary to achieve that goal: it required only that Defendant begin the initial stages of the administrative process regarding utilizing vouchers, the submission of the “lease-up” paperwork.  It specifically declined to reach a decision regarding whether Defendant is required to complete the process of accepting the vouchers and execute the HUD-required lease addenda, leaving that question for resolution at a preliminary injunction hearing.  

Plaintiffs now seek the Court’s relief to order the Defendant to complete the D.C. Housing Authority’s administrative process and execute the final paperwork, including lease addenda, which will enable Plaintiffs to use their vouchers at their homes.  Although the Temporary Restraining Order eliminated the harm that would have resulted from expiration of Plaintiffs’ vouchers, Plaintiffs continue to amass rental and utility arrearages awaiting Defendant’s compliance with the law.  

I. 
FACTS


Plaintiff Feemster, a 35-year old woman with four children, resides in a townhouse at 75 Bates Street, NW in Washington, D.C.  See Declaration of Bridgette Feemster, Exhibit A to Plaintiffs’ Application For Temporary Restraining Order And Order To Show Cause Why A Preliminary Injunction Should Not Issue.
  Since 1999, she and her family have rented one of 37 townhouses or subdivided townhouses that received a rental subsidy from HUD, under a program known as project-based Section 8. See id.  This subsidy was obtained through a Housing Assistance Payment (“HAP”) Contract entered into between HUD and the owner of the Bates Street Townhomes, BSA Limited Partnership (“Defendant”).  Under the project-based Section 8 program, Plaintiffs paid 30% of their adjusted gross income toward rent and HUD paid the balance of the rent to the Defendant.  


Plaintiff Feemster is a nursing student at the University of the District of Columbia.  Currently, her sole sources of income are the Temporary Assistance to Needy Families program, from which she receives $379.00 each month, and Supplemental Security Income, from which she receives $579.00 each month.
  See Exhibit A, Declaration of Bridgette Feemster.  Because her income is so low, Plaintiff Feemster was not required to contribute any money toward her rent under the project-based Section 8 program. See id.

Plaintiff Lymore is a 35-year old woman who has lived in her home at 77 P St., NW since 1993.  See Declaration of Sabrina Lymore, Exhibit B.  She and her family of four children also benefited from the project-based Section 8 contract at the Bates Street Townhomes.  Plaintiff Lymore is currently employed at the Randstat Group, a contractor for the federal government.  Her current rent is $560.00.  

Plaintiff Brown is a 61-year old woman who has lived at 230 Bates St., NW, Apartment 1, since sometime in the 1980s.  See Declaration of Mary Brown, Exhibit L.  Ms. Brown currently lives with and cares for her 17-year-old grandson.  Throughout her tenancy, Ms. Brown participated in the project-based rent subsidy program administered by HUD.  Due to several medical problems, including diabetes, high blood pressure, and heart disease, Ms. Brown receives $969.00 per month in Social Security Disability Insurance (SSDI).  She also receives $239.00 per month in Temporary Assistance to Needy Families.  Based on her last income recertification with the Defendant, Ms. Brown pays zero rent.

Plaintiff Holland is a 74-year old woman who has lived in her home at 202 Q St., NW since 1981.  See Declaration of Shirley Holland, Exhibit M.  She and her family, which includes her daughter and her nephew, benefited from the project-based Section 8 contract at the Bates Street Townhomes.  Plaintiff Holland is blind and receives Social Security benefits in the amount of $611.20 per month and receives benefits from an annuity of $455.00 per month.  Ms. Holland’s daughter receives $9.50 an hour and works 30-40 hours per week.  Based on her last recertification, Plaintiff Holland pays zero rent.  


Plaintiff Johnson is a 53 year-old woman who has lived with her teenaged daughter at her home at 52 Bates Street, NW for approximately 3 years.  See Declaration of Dyanne Johnson, Exhibit N.  Ms. Johnson suffers from severe asthma that limits her daily activities.  Because of her health problems, Ms. Johnson receives Supplemental Security Income in the amount of $579.00 per month.  Ms. Johnson also receives Temporary Assistance to Needy Families in the amount of $239.00 per month.  As of her last recertification, Ms. Johnson pays zero rent.    


Plaintiff Lattimore is a 50-year old woman who has lived in her home at 124 Q St., NW, Apartment 4 since 1981.  See Declaration of Shirley Lattimore, Exhibit O.  Plaintiff Lattimore suffers from agoraphobia and receives Social Security Disability Insurance in the amount of $812.00 per month.  In addition, Ms. Lattimore is employed part time at CVS Pharmacy and earns $9.30 per hour working 10-20 hours per week.  As of her last income recertification, Ms. Lattimore pays $310.00 in rent per month.


Beatrice Harris is a 55 year old woman who has lived at 24 Bates Street, NW for approximately 21 years.  See Declaration of Beatrice Harris, Exhibit W.  She currently lives with her 16 year old granddaughter and 21 year old grandson.  Plaintiff Harris is employed at Howard University and earns $8.50 per hour.  Each month, her grandson receives Supplemental Security Income in the amount of $579 as well as $1000 in wages from his placement through Melwood, a program for people with mental disabilities.  Based on her last recertification Ms. Harris is required to pay $803 in rent each month.


On or about September 30, 2003 and October 8, 2003, Defendant provided the Plaintiffs and the other Section 8 residents at the Bates Street Townhomes with two letters purporting to give them a one-year notice of its decision to terminate the Section 8 HAP contract effective September 30, 2004.  The process whereby an owner voluntarily decides to terminate a project-based Section 8 HAP contract is known as “opting out.” See Exhibit C.  

In anticipation of the opt-out, the D.C. Housing Authority (“DCHA”), the local public housing authority responsible for administering the voucher program, convened a meeting for the Bates Street Townhomes residents in the summer of 2004 to discuss the process of converting their project-based subsidy to the tenant-based voucher program.  DCHA staff gave residents information about the opt-out process and their opportunity to obtain, through DCHA, tenant-based vouchers which they could use either to remain at the Bates Street Townhomes or attempt to use elsewhere.  See Exhibits A, B, L-O, and W.  Defendant and his agents were present at this meeting and gave no indication that Defendant would not accept enhanced vouchers or refuse to execute lease addenda for those residents wishing to remain.

On or about September 7, 2004, after screening Plaintiff Feemster for eligibility, DCHA issued her a tenant-based voucher that contained an initial expiration date of November 7, 2004.  See Exhibit A.  On October 15, 2004, after screening Plaintiff Lymore for eligibility, DCHA issued her a voucher with an initial expiration date of December 15, 2004.
  See Exhibit B.  Plaintiff Brown received her voucher on September 27, 2004, see Exhibit L; Plaintiff Holland received her voucher on October 22, 2004, see Exhibit M; Plaintiff Johnson received her voucher on September 7, 2004, see Exhibit N; Plaintiff Lattimore received her voucher on November 12, 2004, see Exhibit O; and Plaintiff Harris received her voucher on December 10, 2004, see Exhibit W.  


Following the meeting at DCHA for tenants, Plaintiff Feemster contacted an agent of the Defendant and asked to use her voucher to continue to reside in her townhouse.  She was told that Defendant would not accept her voucher.  See Exhibit A.  On or about September 3, 2004, counsel to Plaintiffs notified the Defendant that pursuant to the laws of the United States and the District of Columbia, it is required to accept enhanced vouchers for all residents of Bates Street Townhomes.  A true and correct copy of this correspondence is attached as Exhibit D.  Defendant’s counsel responded to this letter on September 9, 2004, denying that Defendant had instructed the tenants to vacate their units or that it had told them their vouchers would not be accepted.  A true and correct copy of this correspondence is attached as Exhibit E.

On September 24 or 25, 2004, Plaintiff Feemster again contacted an agent for Defendant requesting to use her voucher to remain in her Bates Street home.  On or about September 27, 2004, she received a letter from Defendant, reiterating that the Section 8 HAP contract was being terminated and stating “as to the use of any Housing Choice Voucher, BSA will not be signing or executing any lease agreements or lease addenda.”  Defendant also stated in the letter that the rent for Plaintiff Feemster’s townhouse was $1,199.00, and indicated that she would be required to pay this amount if she wished to remain in her home.  See Exhibit F.  


Plaintiff Lymore similarly contacted Defendant requesting to use her voucher to remain at her current home.  On or about October 1, 2004, Defendant sent a letter to Plaintiff Lymore stating that BSA “will not enter into a new lease” and indicating that if Ms. Lymore intended to reside in the property, she would be required to pay $1,086 per month.  See Exhibit G.


Plaintiff Lattimore similarly contacted Defendant and asked whether she would be able to use her voucher to remain in her apartment.  On or about October 5, 2004, Defendant sent a letter to Plaintiff Lattimore stating that “BSA would not be signing or executing any new lease agreements or lease addenda” and if Ms. Lattimore wanted to remain in the unit she would have to pay $931.00 per month.  A copy of this letter is attached as Exhibit P.  


Plaintiffs Brown, Holland and Johnson also understood, based on representations by an agent for Defendant prior to their receipt of the vouchers, they would not be permitted to use their vouchers to pay a portion of their monthly rent in their Bates Street Townhomes.

On or about October 7, 2004, counsel for Plaintiffs again notified Defendant’s counsel that Defendant was continuing to violate the laws of the United States and the District of Columbia in denying Plaintiffs and other residents the right to use their enhanced vouchers.  A copy of the letter is attached as Exhibit H.  On or about October 12, 2004, Defendant’s counsel responded to Plaintiffs’ counsel, stating that Defendant would accept any voucher so long as it was not required to sign “a new lease or addendum to an existing month to month tenancy.”  A copy of this letter is attached as Exhibit I.  


Plaintiffs’ counsel responded in writing to this letter on October 15, 2004.  In their response, counsel for Plaintiffs notified Defendant’s counsel that: 1) the voucher program generally did not require a new lease in order to enter into a voucher contract; but that 2) federal law requires that parties entering into a voucher contract sign a Tenancy Addendum as part of the Housing Assistance Payments Contract and that Defendant’s refusal to enter into this addendum constitutes a de facto rejection of Plaintiffs’ vouchers.  See Exhibit J.  Defendant’s counsel did not respond to this letter.  


On several occasions Plaintiff Harris contacted the Defendant about the use of her voucher to remain in her Bates Street Townhome.  After informing Ms. Harris that BSA would not accept her voucher, Defendant sent Ms. Harris a letter dated October 21, 2004 indicating that “BSA will not be signing or executing any new lease agreements or lease addenda.”  The letter also informed her that if she intended to stay in the unit she would be required to pay $1,199.  A copy of this letter is attached as Exhibit X.

The Plaintiffs do not wish to move from their current homes and they fear that Defendant’s actions will leave their families homeless.  After Defendant’s refusal to accept her voucher, Plaintiff Feemster attempted to find alternate housing and has looked at and/or applied to rent more than 30 rental units.  See Exhibit A.  So far, she has not succeeded in finding another home at which to use her voucher.  Further, she has had to pay application fees to prospective owners and has incurred other expenses in her search for other housing.  Ms. Lymore has also attempted to find alternate housing but has been told repeatedly that she cannot use her voucher at the units she has viewed.  See Exhibit B.  Plaintiff Holland is blind and cannot seek other housing without significant assistance.  See Exhibit M.  Plaintiff Lattimore suffers from agoraphobia and is afraid of moving to a new residence.  See Exhibit O.  Plaintiff Brown suffers from diabetes, high blood pressure, and heart disease, all of which cause her hardship in searching for another suitable home.  She is extremely anxious and distressed at the thought of losing her home and having to move her grandson to a dangerous and/or crime-ridden neighborhood.  See Exhibit L.  Plaintiff Johnson suffers from severe asthma and it is difficult for her to search for another home.  She fears that another move will cause her daughter, who is having difficulty at school and emotional problems, further trauma.  See Exhibit N.  Ms. Harris has looked for other housing but the places she looked at were in dangerous neighborhoods with significant drug activity.  She feels comfortable and safe in the neighborhood where her Bates Street townhouse is located because she has lived there for so many years.  See Exhibit W.  
Plaintiffs face a challenging housing market that includes a limited number of available units for voucher use.  Generally, tenants who attempt to use a Section 8 voucher to rent in the District of Columbia have less than a 50 percent chance of finding a landlord to accept their voucher.  See Metropolitan Washington Council of Governments, 2003 Assisted Housing Survey, published at http://www.mwcog.org.  In addition, in the experience of Plaintiffs, many of the units at which they would have been able to use their vouchers were significantly inferior to their current units in both size and neighborhood safety.  See Exhibits A, B, L, N, and W. 


To date, Defendant continues to deny Plaintiffs the ability to remain in their homes with their vouchers.  Defendant’s actions violate clear federal law requiring it to accept Plaintiffs’ enhanced vouchers.  Defendant’s refusal to execute lease addenda has caused Plaintiffs to amass rental and utility arrearages and has caused them to experience fear and anxiety about losing their homes, and suffer the severing of or interference with personal, family, and community ties.  Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy at law for the Defendant’s unlawful actions.

II.
STATUTORY AND REGULATORY FRAMEWORK


A. 
Federally Subsidized Housing Law

1.  The Project-Based Section 8 Program

The parties to this case were, at least until September 30, 2004, participants in the federally subsidized housing program known as project-based Section 8.  Under the project-based Section 8 program, the owner of the project enters into a renewable Housing Assistance Payments (“HAP”) contract with the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development (“HUD”), wherein HUD agrees to provide rental assistance payments to the owner on behalf of the tenant.  Under the HAP contract, the tenant participant in the program pays 30 percent of his or her adjusted income toward the rent, while HUD pays the difference between the tenant’s income-based amount and the approved contract rent for the tenant’s unit. See 24 C.F.R. Part 880.  A tenant participant is also entitled to a utility allowance to subsidize the cost of all essential tenant-paid utilities.  See 24 C.F.R. § 5.632.   

A project-based Section 8 contract between HUD and the owner is for a term of years.  Once the contract term expires, the owner may choose to renew the contract on a short-term or long-term basis or, in the alternative, to “opt-out” of the project-based Section 8 program.  An owner who decides to opt-out of the Section 8 program must give notice of not less than one year to tenants affected by the opt-out, i.e., the current tenants in the project. See 42 U.S.C. § 1437f(c)(8)(A) (amended 1998). 


2.  The Enhanced Voucher Statute

In addition to the one-year notice requirement, tenants in an opt-out situation are also entitled to continued housing assistance, whether they choose to remain in their units or move elsewhere.  In 1997, Congress – recognizing that a landlord’s decision not to renew the contract would place the owner’s existing low-income tenants at risk of homelessness – enacted the Multifamily Assisted Housing Reform and Affordability Act of 1997 (MAHRAA), Title V of the HUD Fiscal Year 1998 Appropriations Act, Pub. L. 105-65.  MAHRAA, as enacted and later amended in 1999, established new policies for the renewal and non-renewal of Section 8 project-based contracts.  

Specifically, to protect tenants affected by the lawful termination of expiring project-based Section 8 contracts and to prevent displacement, Congress in 1999 amended MAHRAA to provide that “the Secretary shall make enhanced voucher assistance under section 8(t) of the United States Housing Act of 1937 (42 U.S.C. § 1437f(t)) available on behalf of each low-income family who, upon the date of such expiration, is residing in an assisted dwelling unit in the covered project.”  Pub. L. No. 106-74, § 531, 113 Stat. 1047, 1113 (1999) (emphasis added).  The vouchers are called “enhanced vouchers” because they are designed to cover any lawful increases in rent above the rent limit set by the local public housing authority for its regular voucher program. See 42 U.S.C. § 1437f(t).  

Congress later acted to clarify that under the enhanced voucher statute, families residing in project-based Section 8 units at the time of opt-out have the right to remain in their current homes. See 42 U.S.C. § 1437f(t), as amended by Public L. No. 106-246, Sec. 2801 (7/13/00) (HR 4425, FY 2001 Military Construction and FY 2000 Emergency Supplemental Appropriations Act.).  The enhanced voucher statute provides that tenants in an expiring project-based property have the right to remain in their units, using an enhanced voucher, as long as the property remains rental property and the rent for the property is reasonable. In relevant part, the statute provides:

Enhanced voucher assistance under this subsection for a family shall be voucher assistance under subsection (o) except that under such enhanced voucher assistance (B) the assisted family may elect to remain in the same project in which the family was residing on the date of the eligibility event for the project . . . .

42 U.S.C. § 1437f(t)(1) (emphasis added).  An eligibility event is defined as:

[W]ith respect to a multifamily housing project, . . . the termination or expiration of the contract for rental assistance under this section for such housing project . . . results in tenants in such housing project being eligible for enhanced voucher assistance . . . .

In addition, under the National Housing Act, it is unlawful for a landlord, while participating in any Section 8 subsidy program, such as a project-based Section 8 program, to interfere with tenants’ efforts to use rental subsidies. See 12 U.S.C. § 1715z-1(b)(2).


In addition to the plain statutory language, HUD interprets the enhanced voucher statute to require landlords opting out of the project-based Section 8 program to accept any remaining tenant’s enhanced voucher.  On January 19, 2001, HUD issued the Section 8 Renewal Policy Guide (“Policy Guide”).  The Policy Guide reiterates the requirement that “Tenants who receive an enhanced voucher have the right to remain in their units as long as the units are offered for rental housing when issued an enhanced voucher sufficient to pay the rent charged for the unit, provided that the rent is reasonable.”  HUD, Policy Guide, Ch. 11 at 3, available at http://www.hud.gov/offices/hsg/mfh/exp/guide/s8renew.pdf.  In addition, the Policy Guide requires owners who are opting out to submit to HUD a certification that they will “comply with the requirement to allow families receiving enhanced vouchers who elect to remain to do so as long as the property remains a rental property, unless the owner has just cause for eviction,” and to include such compliance language in the one-year opt-out notice to residents.  HUD, Policy Guide, Ch. 1 at 9; accord id., Ch. 8 at 2; id., Ch. 11, at 5 and App. 11.  Defendant included this compliance language in its notice of opt-out to the Plaintiffs.  See Exhibit C.



3.  The Tenant-Based Housing Choice Voucher Program


To enable tenants to remain in their units with their enhanced vouchers, the law requires the owner to become a participant in the local housing authority’s Housing Choice Voucher Program.  See HUD, Policy Guide, Ch. 11 at 3 (requiring that after opt-out, the owner must enter into “a Housing Choice Voucher Housing Assistance Payment [(“HCVP HAP”)] contract with the local PHA [Public Housing Authority] on behalf of each covered family” that wishes to remain using its enhanced voucher).  The Housing Choice Voucher Program, unlike the project-based Section 8 program, is a portable rental subsidy – funded by HUD and administered by the local housing authority – that tenants may use to rent units of their choice.  See 42 U.S.C. § 1437(f).  Under the Housing Choice Voucher Program, as in the project-based program, the tenant pays 30 percent of his or her income toward rent, with the local housing authority paying the remainder directly to the landlord.  See id.  An enhanced voucher is a particular type of tenant-based voucher, issued specifically to tenants in expiring project-based units and with the “enhanced” feature that tenants may remain in their units with the voucher even if the contract rent is more than the amount the local housing authority will pay for a standard voucher rental.  See 42 U.S.C. § 1437f(t).  
Two contracts govern a tenancy in the Housing Choice Voucher Program.  First, as with any tenancy, the landlord and tenant have a lease for the unit, which lists the total monthly rent for the unit and describes the parties’ rights and duties as landlord and tenant.  Second, the landlord and the housing authority enter into a Housing Assistance Payments Contract (“HAP Contract”), which governs the relationship between the landlord and the Housing Authority with respect to the Section 8 tenant.  The HAP Contract sets forth the housing authority’s duty to make rental payments on the tenant’s behalf and also includes a tenancy addendum that “sets forth tenancy requirements for the program and the composition of the household, as approved by the PHA.”  HUD, Housing Choice Voucher Program Guidebook 7420.10G, at 11-14.  The law provides specifically that “[t]he owner must sign the HUD tenancy addendum with the prospective tenant, and the tenant has the right to enforce the tenancy addendum against the owner.”    Id.
B.
District of Columbia Landlord and Tenant Law


In the District of Columbia, landlord and tenant relationships – including those covered by a federal subsidy – are principally governed by the Rental Housing Act of 1985.  See generally D.C. Code §§ 42-3505.01-3509.07 (2003).  The Act is designed as a “comprehensive legislative scheme to protect the rights of tenants . . . .”  Administrator of Veterans Affairs v. Valentine, 490 A.2d 1165, 1168 (D.C. 1985).  One of the primary purposes of the Act is “[t]o protect the existing supply of rental housing from conversation to other uses.”  D.C. Code § 42-3501.02(4).  In particular, the Act shields tenants from eviction and displacement except in certain limited circumstances:

Except as provided in this section, no tenant shall be evicted from a rental unit, notwithstanding the expiration of the tenant’s lease or rental agreement, so long as the tenant continues to pay the rent to which the housing provider is entitled for the rental unit.  No tenant shall be evicted from a rental unit for any reason other than for nonpayment of rent unless the tenant has been serviced with a written notice to vacate which meets the requirement of this section. 

D.C. Code § 42-3505.01(a).  The statute provides eight grounds for eviction, other than nonpayment of rent, including breach of lease terms and the landlord’s desire to occupy or renovate the property.  See D.C. Code § 42-3505.01(b)-(i).  Each of these additional grounds for eviction requires a specified period of notice to the affected tenant.  See id.  

The Rental Housing Act nullified the traditional notion of a holdover tenant at sufferance, which permitted a landlord to evict a tenant without cause at the expiration of the lease term.  See Jack Spicer Real Estate Inc. v. Gassaway, 353 A.2d 288, 291 (D.C. 1976).  In light of the Act, “no basis remains for saying that a housing landlord could still  . . . terminate a tenancy without giving a valid reason specified by statute.”  Cormier v. McRae, 609 A.2d 676, 679 (D.C. 1992).  As such, the Act provides that tenancies generally continue intact even when ownership of the housing accommodation changes.  Even where the landlord intends to sell the rental property, the Act “prohibits evictions . . . except where the owner has a written contract to sell the housing accommodation to a purchaser who intends to occupy the premises immediately for his own personal use.”  Valentine, 490 A.2d at 1170 (emphasis added); accord D.C. Code § 42-3505.01(e) (“A housing provider may recover possession of a rental unit where the housing provider has in good faith contracted in writing to sell the rental unit or the housing accommodation in which the unit is located for the immediate and personal use and occupancy by another person.”).  Unless the buyer personally intends to occupy the premises, the tenant has the right to remain in the unit even after the sale.  See Valentine, 490 A.2d at 1170 (noting, in the context of foreclosure, that there is “no persuasive reason why a party who has come into ownership as a result of a mortgage default has any different relationship with previous tenants than do other owners.”).   

The Act does not include as a basis for eviction the owner’s plan to sell the property at some future date.  Indeed, except where a contract purchaser plans to occupy the unit immediately, “the housing provider may never issue a valid notice to vacate on the basis of the plans of the purchasing housing provider.”  14 D.C.M.R. § 4302.10.  Furthermore, a landlord selling its rental property must also first offer the tenant the opportunity to purchase the property, see D.C. Code § 42-3404.08, and should a landlord seek to alter the use of the property from rental housing to a cooperative or condominium, it must permit any tenant the opportunity to vote on such a conversion.  See D.C. Code § 42-3402.01 et seq.   

III.
ARGUMENT

A. Standard for Issuance of Preliminary Injunction 

Plaintiffs are entitled to a Preliminary Injunction against the Defendant because they can show that: 1) there is a substantial likelihood that they will succeed on the merits of their claims; 2) they will suffer irreparable injury if the Defendant is not enjoined; 3) the injunction will not substantially injure other interested parties; and 4) the public interest favors issuing an injunction.  See Merrill Lynch, et al. v. Wertz, et al., 298 F. Supp. 2d 27, 30-31 (D.D.C. 2002) (citing CityFed Financial Corp. v. Office of Thrift Supervision, 58 F.3d 738, 746 (D.C. Cir. 1995)); see also Washington Metropolitan Area Transit Commission v. Holiday Tours, Inc., 559 F.2d 841, 843 (D.C. Cir. 1977).  “These factors interrelate on a sliding scale and must be balanced against each other.”  Serono Laboratories, Inc. v. Shalala, 158 F.3d 1313, 1317 (D.C. Cir. 1998).  

A party seeking an injunction need not “establish an absolute certainty of success.”  Population Institute, et al. v. McPherson, 797 F.2d 1062, 1078 (D.C. Cir. 1986).  A court may issue an injunction where there is a strong likelihood of success on the merits of a party’s claim, even if there is only a small indication of irreparable injury.  See CityFed Financial Corp. v. Office of Thrift Supervision, 58 F.3d 738, 746 (D.C. Cir. 1995).  “It will ordinarily be enough that the Plaintiff has raised questions going to the merits so serious, substantial, difficult and doubtful, as to make them a fair ground for litigation and thus for more deliberative investigation.”  Washington Metro Area Transit Commissions, 559 F.2d at 844 (quoting Hamilton Watch Co. v. Benrus Watch Co., 206 F.2d 738, 740 (2d Cir. 1953)).  

B. 
Plaintiffs’ Claims Have a High Likelihood of Success on the Merits


The Defendant’s conduct is illegal.  Despite its clear obligations under federal law,
 Defendant continues to refuse to honor the Plaintiffs’ right to remain by refusing to complete the administrative requirements associated with accepting enhanced vouchers.  Federal law unambiguously requires Defendant to accept Plaintiffs’ enhanced vouchers and Defendant’s refusal to complete the required administrative documents for voucher use is preventing Plaintiffs from using their vouchers.  As such, Defendant’s actions are an impermissible and illogical parsing of the law with the effect of denying Plaintiffs the use of their vouchers.  Because Defendant’s violation of the law is manifest, Plaintiffs have a strong likelihood of success on the merits.  

1. Federal Law Unambiguously Requires Defendant to Accept Plaintiffs’ Enhanced Vouchers

 “As in all cases involving statutory constructions, ‘our starting point must be the language employed by Congress.’” American Tobacco Co. v. Patterson, 456 U.S. 63, 68 (1982) (quoting Reiter v. Sonotone Corp., 442 U.S. 330, 337 (1979); see also Center for Science in the Public Interest, et al. v. Regan, 802 F.2d 518, 521 (D.C. Cir. 1986) (“It is axiomatic that statutory interpretation begins with the language of the statute itself.”).  In this case, the enhanced voucher statute, 42 U.S.C. § 1437f(t), is unambiguous on the tenant’s right to remain using enhanced vouchers.  The law provides that, having received a tenant-based voucher, “the assisted family may elect to remain in the same project in which the family was residing on the date of the eligibility event for the project.”  42 U.S.C. § 1437f(t)(1)(B).  The statute defines an “eligibility event” as, inter alia, the expiration of a project-based Section 8 contract.  See id. § 1437f(t)(2).
HUD’s interpretation of the enhanced voucher statute confirms Plaintiffs’ right to use their tenant-based vouchers at their existing homes.  As the administrator of the Section 8 program, the interpretation set forth by HUD should be afforded “considerable weight.”  Chevron USA, Inc. v. Natural Res. Def. Council, 467 U.S. 837, 844 (1974).  On January 19, 2001, HUD’s Office of Multifamily Housing issued the Section 8 Renewal Policy Guidebook (“Policy Guide”)
, which elaborates on the landlord’s statutory mandate to accept enhanced voucher assistance following an opt-out of the project-based contract.  The Policy Guide provides, in relevant part, that “Tenants who receive an enhanced voucher have the right to remain in their units as long as the units are offered for rental housing when issued an enhanced voucher sufficient to pay the rent charged for the unit, provided that the rent is reasonable.”  HUD, Policy Guide, Ch. 11 at 3 (emphasis added).  

The Policy Guide also places the duty to accept tenant-based vouchers directly on owners of opt-out buildings, requiring them at the time of opt-out to certify to HUD that they will comply with the families’ right to remain and accept enhanced vouchers.  See id. at Ch. 1, at 9 (“Owners must certify on the Option 6 Renewal Form that they will comply with the requirement to allow families receiving enhanced vouchers who elect to remain to do so as long as the property remains a rental property, unless the owner has just cause for eviction.”); id. Ch. 8, at 2.  To help owners ensure compliance with the opt-out notice requirements, the Policy Guide offers a model opt-out notification letter, which contains express language regarding the tenant’s right to remain in his or her home.  See id. at Ch. 11, App 11-1 (“Federal law allows you to elect to continue living at this property provided that the unit, the rent, and we, the owners, meet the requirements of the Section 8 tenant-based assistance program.  As an Owner, we will honor your right as a tenant to remain at the property . . . .”) (emphasis added).
    

In a recent case addressing a tenant’s right to use enhanced vouchers at an opt-out building, the Southern District of New York ruled that an owner must accept the tenants’ vouchers because any other interpretation would render the statute’s tenant protections meaningless.  See Jeanty v. Shore Realty Assoc. & New York City Department of Housing Preservation and Development, 2004 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 15773 (S.D.N.Y. Aug. 10, 2004).  The Court examined both the language of the statute and HUD’s interpretation, finding that both clearly obligated the landlord to enter into enhanced voucher contracts with tenants who wished to remain.  See id. at *9-*10, *13-*16.  The Court rejected the landlord’s argument that enhanced voucher use was voluntary, noting that “If a landlord’s obligation to accept enhanced vouchers upon opt-out was merely voluntary, then § 1437f’s grant to the tenant of the right to remain would be illusory.”  See id. at *10.

Given the plain language of the enhanced voucher statute, HUD’s interpretation, and federal caselaw, Defendant BSA has no choice but to accept Plaintiffs’ enhanced vouchers.  Indeed, Defendant agreed and certified to HUD on November 3, 2003, that it would “honor the tenants[’] right to remain at the property, provided that the [public housing authority] approved a rent equal to the new rent charged for the unit.” See Exhibit Q (“Renewal Worksheet for Option Six”).  As a result, Plaintiffs may use their vouchers to remain in their homes as long as: 1) the property is offered as rental housing; and 2) the rent is reasonable.  See HUD, Policy Guide, Ch. 11, at 3.  


a. The Plaintiffs’ Homes are Rental Property

Although Defendant at times asserts that Plaintiffs’ homes are no longer rental property, its actions concede the existence of rental housing.  First, Defendant confirmed that Plaintiffs homes continue to be rental housing by asserting that it is charging rent for the housing accommodations.  Under District of Columbia law, a “rental unit” is defined as “any part of a housing accommodation which is rented or offered for rent for residential occupancy.” D.C. Code § 42-3501.03(33).   In its own letter of September 27, 2004, Defendant stated that the current rent for Plaintiff Feemster’s home is $1,199.00 and that “provided you pay the rent charged and otherwise abide by the terms of your tenancy, you may continue to reside in the property which you currently lease until such time as it may be required to vacate upon appropriate notice.”  See Exhibit F.  Similarly, Plaintiff Lymore, Plaintiff Lattimore, and Plaintiff Harris received their own letters from Defendant on October 1, 2004, October 5, 2004, and October 21, 2004, respectively, stating that their new rent charges would be $1,086.00, $931.00, and $1,199.00 per month and that they had the right to remain so long as they paid their respective amounts.    See Exhibit G, P, and X.     

Second, at or around November 8, 2004, Defendant served Plaintiffs with notices of opportunity to purchase their homes or apartments.  See Exhibit R (“Offer of Sale & Tenant Opportunity to Purchase Without A Third Party Contract for Either a Single Family Housing, Rented Condominium, or Rented Cooperative Unit.”).  By law, these offers are to be issued by owners only to tenants of rental housing. See D.C. Code § 42-3404.02 (“Before an owner of a housing accommodation may sell the accommodation, or issue a notice of intent to recover possession . . . for purposes of discontinuance of housing use, the owner shall give the tenant an opportunity to purchase the accommodation . . . .”) (emphasis added).  Thus, by recognizing the requirement to issue the offers to Plaintiffs, Defendant has implicitly conceded that the property is rental housing.  

Furthermore, the majority of Plaintiffs have responded to Defendant’s notices by submitting letters of interest in purchasing, see D.C. Code §§ 42-3404.09(a), 42-3404.10(1), and have negotiable contracts of sale for their homes, see D.C. Code §§ 42-3404.09(2), 3404.10(2).  Under District of Columbia law, the Plaintiffs not only have the right to purchase their homes, but they have the right and opportunity to assign their rights to a third party under any terms favorable to the Plaintiffs, including continuing to maintain their homes as rental housing. See D.C. Code § 42-3404.06.  As such, Plaintiffs participating in the purchase negotiations are in fact, the party in this suit with the primary control over whether their homes remain rental property.  

Third, following the issuance of the notices of opportunity to purchase, in January 2005, Defendant served the Plaintiffs with 180-day Notices to Vacate for Discontinuance of Housing Use, pursuant to D.C. Code § 42-3505.01(i)(1)(A), thereby conceding that at least through the expiration of the notice, the property is rental housing.  Even if the Defendant were permitted to proceed on the notices, its ability to enforce them is at best doubtful.  Negotiations continue on the offers to purchase, and as such, moot the effectiveness of the 180-day notices as the Defendant and Plaintiffs are required to negotiate for sale of the property pursuant to the timelines set by statute. See D.C. Code § 42-3404.01 et seq.  Furthermore, even if the notices of opportunity to purchase had not been issued, Defendant has the burden to show that in accordance with issuance of the 180-day notices, it will cease “any housing or commercial use of the unit for a continuous 12-month period beginning from the date that the use is discontinued under this section.”  D.C. Code § 42-3505.01(i)(1)(C).  Defendant must also show that it cannot rehabilitate the property during the 12-month period in which the property is restricted from housing or commercial use.  See D.C. Code § 42-3505.01(i)(1)(B).  Defendant’s counsel has repeatedly stated, however, that it plans to sell the units in the immediate future.  See, e.g., Exhibit E (Letter from Richard Luchs, Esq., to Julie Becker) (“[T]he Bates Street Townhouses will be offered for sale at current market rates”); Exhibit F (Letter from David Katz to Bridgette Feemster) (“It is the intention of the owner to sell the townhouses”).  This expressed intent of the owner, which directly contradicts the statements in Plaintiffs’ 180-day notices that the owner intends to discontinue housing use, casts doubt on Defendant’s ability to enforce those notices once they expire.

Therefore, Plaintiffs’ homes remain “rental property” for purposes of the enhanced voucher law.


b. The Rent for Plaintiffs’ Homes is Reasonable

It is undisputed that Plaintiffs’ rent is “reasonable” within the meaning of the enhanced voucher statute, because the rent charged does not exceed the payment standard set by the D.C. Housing Authority.  Compare Exhibits F, G, and P with Exhibit S (DCHA, Resolution 04-41, To Adopt a Revised Housing Choice Voucher Program Payment Standard Schedule, October 13, 2004).
  

2.
Defendant’s Refusal to Sign a Lease or Tenancy Addendum is a De Facto Denial of Plaintiffs’ Right to Use Enhanced Vouchers to Remain In Their Homes

Defendant does not dispute that it must accept Plaintiffs’ enhanced vouchers.  See Exhibit I (Letter from Robert Greenberg, Esq. to Julie Becker, Esq., Oct. 12, 2004).  Rather, it contends that it will accept vouchers so long as it is not required to enter into “a new lease or addendum to an existing month to month tenancy.”  Id.  Defendant’s position constitutes nothing more than an attempt to circumvent the enhanced voucher statute by imposing illegal conditions on the tenants’ right to use their vouchers at their current homes.

First, under both federal and local law, renting with a voucher requires the landlord to sign an addendum to the tenant’s lease.  The regulations implementing the voucher program provide that in order for a tenant to lease a unit with a voucher, “The landlord and the tenant [must] have executed the lease (including the HUD-prescribed tenancy addendum) . . . .”  24 C.F.R. § 982.305(b)(ii) (emphasis added); see also id.  

§ 982.308(f) (Tenancy Addendum) (“The HAP Contract required by HUD shall include an addendum (the “tenancy addendum”) that sets forth . . . (i) The tenancy requirements for this program . . . and (ii) The composition of the household as approved by the PHA”); HUD, Housing Choice Voucher Guidebook 7420.10G, at Chap. 11
 (“The owner must sign the tenancy addendum with the prospective tenant.”) (emphasis added).  

The DC Housing Authority, the local agency responsible for administration of the voucher program, has a similar rule.  See DCHA, Administrative Plan for the Housing Choice Voucher Program, Ch. 11, at 80 (Oct. 2003) (“If the lease is approved, the [public housing authority] will prepare the HAP contract (and Lease Addendum[)] . . . .”).  Defendant, therefore, does not have the option of accepting Plaintiffs’ vouchers without signing a tenancy addendum or of requiring Plaintiffs to use vouchers that do not require such addenda.

Defendant’s second objection, regarding signing new leases, has even less merit, as nothing in the law requires parties initiating a voucher tenancy to “sign a new lease” in an existing month to month tenancy.  See Exhibit I.  It should be noted, however, that HUD’s interpretation of the enhanced voucher statute specifically obligates an owner to renew leases if necessary to protect a family’s continued right to remain in their homes.  “As long as the property is offered as rental housing, absent good cause to terminate tenancy under Federal, State or local law and provided the PHA continues to find the rent reasonable, owners must continually renew the lease of an enhanced voucher family.” HUD, Policy Guide, Ch. 11, at 4 (emphasis added) (cited in Jeanty, 2004 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 15773 at *19).  The law does not require a renewal of a particular term, nor does it require the entry of a new lease; nothing prevents Defendant from continuing to renew the existing lease on the same periodic basis that it has offered to Plaintiffs in the past.

Because federal and local law require a lease addendum in order to execute a voucher tenancy, Defendant’s position – that it will accept vouchers only without such an addendum – is a de facto denial of Plaintiffs’ vouchers.  “By providing the right to remain, Congress intended to require that owners accept the tenants’ enhanced vouchers, which allow the low-income tenants to afford the rent.”  Jeanty, 2004 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 15773, at *16.  The Jeanty court held that permitting an owner to refuse vouchers would contravene this Congressional intent by rendering the “right to remain” worthless.  Id.  Similarly here, accepting Defendant’s entirely artificial position regarding lease addenda would eviscerate Plaintiffs’ right to remain in their Bates Street homes, because they cannot use their vouchers at those homes unless Defendant executes the HUD-required Tenancy Addendum.  Unless Defendant is required to do so, Plaintiffs’ right to remain is meaningless.  Cf. id. at *11 (“[I]t makes little sense, therefore, to interpret the statute to mean that landlords must allow a tenant to remain exclusive of any obligation to accept the tenant’s enhanced voucher.”).  

Defendant may not undermine the language and intent of the enhanced voucher law by refusing to take the administrative steps necessary to accept the Plaintiffs’ vouchers.  Because their right to remain is clear, Plaintiffs have a strong likelihood of succeeding on the merits in this action.

C. 
Plaintiffs will suffer Irreparable Injury without Injunctive Relief.

The Plaintiffs will suffer imminent and irreparable injury if they are not afforded injunctive relief.  The mere possibility of eviction is sufficient to warrant a finding of irreparable injury.  See Lattimore v. Northwest Cooperative Homes Assoc., 1990 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 3285, at *19-*20 (D.D.C. Mar. 26, 1990) (finding that the potential for loss of apartment and homelessness, where tenant claimed wrongful termination of Section 8 subsidy, warranted finding of irreparable injury); see also McNeill v. New York City Housing Authority, 719 F. Supp. 233 (S.D.N.Y. 1989) (determining threat of eviction and homelessness to be sufficient bases to find threat of irreparable injury); Mitchell v. HUD, 569 F. Supp. 701, 704-05 (N.D. Cal. 1983) (holding that potential eviction of Section 8 tenant constituted sufficient possibility of irreparable injury where community did not contain a significant amount of affordable housing); Owens v. Housing Authority of the City of Stamford, 394 F. Supp. 1267, 1271 (D. Conn. 1975) (finding potential for eviction where there was little affordable housing to satisfy requirement of irreparable injury).  Furthermore, evidence of the loss of housing of the Plaintiffs’ choice, including the loss of housing accessible to work and schools of choice, constitutes a sufficient basis to presume irreparable injury.  See Gresham v. Windrush Partners, Ltd., 730 F.2d 1417, 1424 (11th Cir. 1984).  

Without an injunction requiring the Defendant to complete the administrative requirements associated with accepting Plaintiffs’ vouchers, Plaintiffs will face the continued possibility of eviction and the ongoing financial burden of paying for utilities that were previously subsidized through the project-based Section 8 contract and would be subsidized through the enhanced voucher program. 

1. Defendant’s Refusal to Accept the Vouchers Places Plaintiffs at Risk of Eviction.

To the extent that Defendant is charging Plaintiffs full contract rent, Plaintiffs are at imminent risk of eviction from their homes.
  In the District of Columbia, non-payment of rent constitutes good cause for eviction.  See generally D.C. Code § 42-3505.01 et seq.  None of the Plaintiffs can afford to pay the full contact rent for their homes and, under the project-based Section 8 program, Plaintiffs received considerable rental subsidies often covering the entire rental burden.  In light of Defendant’s letters and oral representations to the Plaintiffs indicating that they would be required to pay the full rent in order to remain in their homes, Plaintiffs fear that they will be evicted for inability to pay rent if Defendant does not accept their vouchers.  

This fear became a reality on October 15, 2004, when Defendant filed Complaints for Possession in the Landlord and Tenant Branch of D.C. Superior Court against Plaintiffs Lymore and Lattimore. See Exhibits U and V.  These suits were dismissed on October 26, 2004; four days after Plaintiffs filed the Complaint in this action.  At the November 5, 2004 hearing on Plaintiffs Application for a Temporary Restraining Order, Counsel for Defendant stated that Defendant would not proceed with further eviction proceedings until some resolution of the issues in this case.  Plaintiffs, however, continue to accrue rental arrearages and are at the mercy of Defendant as to whether its position will change and it will sue to evict the Plaintiffs.  

2. The Plaintiffs are Experiencing Financial Harm by Being Required to Pay the Cost of Utilities as a Result of Defendant’s Refusal to Accept their Enhanced Vouchers. 

Upon information and belief, HUD executed a six-month extension of Defendant’s project-based Section 8 contract, but Defendant refused to accept the extension. See Exhibit T.  Under the project-based program, HUD not only pays a subsidy to the owner to cover the difference between the full market rent and the tenant’s portion, but also issues funds to the owner that are subsequently disbursed to tenants of a project-based Section 8 unit to offset the cost of any essential utilities that are the responsibility of the tenant.  See 24 C.F.R. § 5.632.  These additional utility-related funds are known as utility allowances.  See id.  In the voucher context, the D.C. Housing Authority also reimburses voucher holders for utility costs.  See 24 C.F.R. § 982.517; see also DCHA, Administrative Plan for the Housing Choice Voucher Program, Ch. 11, at 81 (“If the family pays for some or all utilities, the [Public Housing Authority] will provide the family with a utility allowance.”).  Utility allowances reimburse voucher tenants for utilities such as space heating, air conditioning, cooking, water heating, water, sewer, trash collection, other electric, refrigerator, or range.  See, e.g., 24 C.F.R. 

§ 982.518(b)(2)(ii).  

Through September 2004, Defendant was paying utility allowances to the Plaintiffs on a monthly basis through its project-based Section 8 contract.  However, when it declined the extension of the project-based Section 8 contract, and began refusing further funds from HUD, Defendant stopped disbursing utility allowances to the Plaintiffs.  Had the Defendant immediately accepted Plaintiffs’ enhanced vouchers when issued, as it was required to do under federal law, the D.C. Housing Authority would have paid utility allowances to the Plaintiffs directly.  Instead, because of Defendant’s non-compliance, Plaintiffs have either incurred the cost of paying their utilities or risk poor credit ratings as utility arrears accrue in their names while they wait for the Defendant to accept their vouchers.  Defendant’s delay in accepting the enhanced vouchers has, thus, caused unnecessary harm to the Plaintiffs.      
D.
Injunctive Relief Will Not Substantially Injure the Defendant


Plaintiffs’ proposed injunctive relief is not burdensome to the Defendant, since the Defendant is required to accept enhanced vouchers under governing law.  See 42 U.S.C. § 1437f(t); Jeanty, 2004 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 15773, at *12 (“[T]he Court finds that 42 U.S.C. § 1437f(t) obligates [Defendant owner] to accept Plaintiff’s enhanced vouchers [sic].”).  At its core, the relief sought is purely administrative; it requires the Defendant to complete the required forms from the D.C. Housing Authority so that the Plaintiffs can use their vouchers to continue to occupy the homes they currently rent from Defendant.  Under the voucher program, Defendant will receive the full monthly rent it has requested in correspondence with the Plaintiffs, with part of the monthly rent being paid by the Plaintiffs and the remainder by the D.C. Housing Authority.  As such, the relief requested will not substantially injure the Defendant, which may continue to rent the homes, renovate them, or offer them for sale, as it chooses.


Moreover, requiring Defendant to accept Plaintiffs’ vouchers will not, as Defendant claims, obligate the landlord to a new one-year lease or one-year HAP Contract.  As discussed in Part I, nothing in the enhanced voucher statute or the rules of the Housing Choice Voucher Program require a new lease in order to execute a HAP Contract.  In fact, the primary HAP Contract term mirrors the automatic renewal term for one of the Plaintiffs leases.  Compare 24 C.F.R. § 982.309(a)(1), with Exhibit Y, Lease Agreement between BSA Limited Partnership and Sabrina Lymore (providing that the lease is renewable on a year-to-year basis).  Thus, Defendant would not be obligated to any longer lease term under the HAP Contract than currently exists under the lease. 

Counsel for the Defendant asserted at the November 5, 2004 argument on Plaintiffs’ Application for Temporary Restraining Order that Plaintiffs have leases with only month-to-month renewal terms and therefore it should not be obligated to one year HAP Contracts.  If any of the Plaintiffs do have leases with month-to-month renewal periods, the D.C. Housing Authority has the authority to agree to execute month-to-month HAP Contracts with Defendant that will mirror the month-to-month terms of the Plaintiffs’ leases.  See 24 C.F.R. § 982.309(a)(2).  These shorter-term HAP Contracts, which remain in effect so long as the parties’ tenancy exists, will continue until either the Plaintiffs choose to move or the Defendant has reason under the Rental Housing Act to terminate their tenancies.  If and when Defendant lawfully evicts the Plaintiffs, whenever that point arises, its relationship with DCHA is over.  As such, the relief requested does nothing more than to mirror the obligations already placed upon Defendant under District of Columbia landlord and tenant law.  

E.
Injunctive Relief will Further the Public Interest

The relief proposed herein will further the public interest by prescribing decent affordable housing for the Plaintiffs and protecting the public from violations of federal law.  The purpose of the enhanced voucher statute is to “aid[] low-income families in obtaining a decent place to live and [] [to promote] economically mixed housing.” 42 U.S.C. § 1437f(a).  This Court has held that where the purpose of a law is “to provide decent affordable housing for low income families,” the possibility of eviction “without the chance to prove that the[] [laws] were ignored is not in the public interest.”  Lattimore, 1990 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 3285, at *21.  To the extent that an order enjoining the Defendant from refusing to accept Plaintiffs’ vouchers will prevent eviction and homelessness, such order is in the public interest.

F.
No Bond Should Be Required

“Although the [bond] requirements of Rule 65(c) are phrased in mandatory terms, it is settled that the security requirement should not function to bar poor people from obtaining judicial redress.”  Brown v. Artery Organization, Inc., 691 F. Supp. 1459, 1462 (D.D.C. 1987) (Greene, J.) (collecting cases).  The requirement of a bond, and the amount thereof, is “a matter for the discretion of the trial court; it may elect to require no security at all.”  Corrigan Dispatch Co. v. Casa Guzman, S.A., 569 F.2d 300, 303 (5th Cir. 1978).  


The Plaintiffs in this case are low-income citizens attempting to preserve basic necessities.  Because of their limited incomes – which qualify them for the subsidized housing at issue here – they do not have adequate resources to post a substantial bond.  Imposing a bond requirement here would preclude the Plaintiffs from enforcing their right to remain in their homes as guaranteed by federal law.  See Natural Resources Defense Council v. Morton, 337 F. Supp. 167 (D.D.C. 1971), aff'd, 458 F.2d 827 (D.C. Cir. 1972).  Accordingly, Plaintiffs respectfully request that the bond requirement be waived.

IV.
REMEDY SOUGHT


Plaintiffs seek an order which: a) enjoins the Defendant to complete any requirements necessary to enter into tenant-based voucher contracts with the D.C. Housing Authority on Plaintiffs’ behalf, to wit: complying in a timely fashion with all requirements necessary to enter into Housing Assistance Payment contracts on Plaintiffs’ behalf with the D.C. Housing Authority including, but not limited to, cooperation with D.C. Housing Authority inspection procedures, submitting all required paperwork to the D.C. Housing Authority, and executing Housing Assistance Payment contracts on Plaintiffs’ behalf; b) enjoins Defendant from requiring Plaintiffs to pay more rent than they were required to pay under the project-based Section 8 program; and c) enjoins Defendant from evicting Plaintiffs from their units at the Bates Street Townhomes on any ground related to or arising from Defendant’s refusal to accept Plaintiffs’ enhanced vouchers or unless the Defendant has just cause for eviction. 

V.
CONCLUSION


For the reasons stated herein, Plaintiffs have established that they have a strong likelihood of success on the merits; they will be irreparably harmed if an injunction does not issue; the injunctive relief sought, as it is purely administrative, will not substantially injure the Defendant; and the injunctive relief sought is in the public interest.  Accordingly, Plaintiffs respectfully request the Court to grant their Application for Preliminary Injunction and enter the proposed order attached to this Application.

Respectfully Submitted,
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Antonia K. Fasanelli

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

Bridgette Feemster,


)

et al.,





)






)

Plaintiffs,



)







)
Case No. 04-CV-1901 - RBW

v.





)








)

BSA LIMITED PARTNERSHIP,

)







)


Defendant.



)

ORDER


The Court, having considered Plaintiffs’ Application for Preliminary Injunction and the Memorandum of Points and Authorities in support thereof, any other evidence in this matter, and the arguments of counsel, finds as follows:


(1)
Plaintiffs are substantially likely to prevail on their claim that Defendant is in violation of its obligations under the United States Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 1437 et seq. as amended, the National Housing Act, 12 U.S.C. §§ 1701 et seq., the Multifamily Assisted Housing Reform and Affordability Act of 1997 as amended (codified at 42 U.S.C. § 1437f note (Multifamily Housing Assistance)), by impeding their ability to use enhanced vouchers by refusing to complete required administrative documents so that Plaintiffs may use their vouchers;


(2)
If relief is not granted, Plaintiffs could face eviction proceedings and will continue to accrue rental and utility arrearages, which would constitute irreparable injury;


(3)
No irreparable injury will result to Defendant if relief is granted; and


(4)
The public interest favors granting a preliminary injunction.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED:


1.
That a preliminary injunction hereby issue;  


2.
That Defendant shall comply in a timely fashion with all requirements necessary to enter into Housing Assistance Payment contracts on Plaintiffs’ behalf with the D.C. Housing Authority including, but not limited to, cooperation with D.C. Housing Authority inspection procedures, submitting all required paperwork to the D.C. Housing Authority, and executing Housing Assistance Payment contracts on Plaintiffs’ behalf.


3. 
Until all procedures are completed with regard to the previous paragraph, Defendant is also enjoined from requiring Plaintiffs to pay more rent than they were required to pay under the project-based Section 8 program.  Defendant is further enjoined from evicting Plaintiffs from their rental units on any ground related to or arising from Defendant’s refusal to accept Plaintiffs’ enhanced vouchers or unless the Defendant has just cause for eviction.


4.
It is further ORDERED this Order shall issue without cost to Plaintiff. 

Date:

___________

Time:

___________






_______________________________            







Judge Reggie B. Walton






U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia

� At this time, Plaintiffs apply for a preliminary injunction only as to seven of the ten Plaintiffs.  This Application is not filed on behalf of Plaintiffs Dorothy Paul, Lillian Johnson, or Michelle Hawkins.


� The Application for Temporary Restraining Order and this Application for Preliminary Injunction address Plaintiffs claims under federal law only.


� Exhibits A through K were submitted as attachments to Plaintiffs’ original Application for TRO, filed on October 22, 2004 and are also submitted with this Application.  Exhibits L through V, also attached herein, were not included in the Application for TRO.


� Plaintiff Feemster’s Declaration reflects the amount of Supplemental Security Income she received prior to January 1, 2005 as the Declaration was originally submitted prior to that date as part of the original Application for Temporary Restraining Order and Order to Show Cause.  Plaintiff Feemster’s benefits were increased on January 1, 2005 to $579.00.  


� On November 5, 2004, the Court issued a Temporary Restraining Order requiring the Defendant “to initiate the process of accepting Plaintiffs’ enhanced vouchers, to wit: immediately sign, complete, and submit any necessary papers to the District of Columbia Housing Authority to begin the “lease-up” process so that Plaintiffs will be able to use their enhanced vouchers at their current homes.”  See Temporary Restraining Order, Nov. 5, 2004, at 2, ¶ 2.  After the issuance of the Temporary Restraining Order, Plaintiffs’ counsel learned that the D.C. Housing Authority had extended the expiration dates of the vouchers.   Nevertheless, with Defendant’s submission of Plaintiffs’ “lease-up” packages pursuant to the Order, the D.C. Housing Authority tolled the expiration of the vouchers for Plaintiffs Feemster and Lymore.  Defendant has also subsequently submitted “lease-up” packages for Plaintiffs Lattimore and Johnson, and as such, their voucher expirations have also been tolled.  


� 	Plaintiffs have also brought supplemental state claims under the D.C. Human Rights Act, D.C. Code § 2-1401.01 et. seq., and the District of Columbia Consumer Protection Procedures Act, D.C. Code §§ 28-3901 et seq.  This Application, however, only addresses Plaintiffs’ claims under the federal law.


� Available at http://www.hud.gov/offices/hsg/mfh/exp/guide/s8renew.pdf.


� Defendant itself adopted the agency interpretation and the suggested language regarding enhanced voucher acceptance when it issued its notice of opt out to residents. See Exhibit C.


� At some point between the filing of the Plaintiffs’ original Application for Temporary Restraining Order and Preliminary Injunction and the filing of this amended application, the D.C. Housing Authority began implementing a revised payment standard schedule, with rents slightly lower than those listed in Exhibit K submitted as part of Plaintiffs’ original Application and also included herein (which reflected the higher payment standard in effect at the time of filing the original Application).  Because the Plaintiffs’ advertised rents remain within even the new payment standards, however, the change has no material effect on this case.


� Available at http://www.hudclips.org/sub_nonhud/cgi/hudclips_run.cgi?hudclips_run.


� On September 8, 2004, HUD notified Defendant that funding was available for a six month extension of the project-based Section 8 contract though March 4, 2005, and asked that Defendant enter into a six month short term HAP contract in order to receive those funds.  Upon information and belief, Defendant has refused to execute the offered contract.  See Exhibit T.  
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